2006

# Wasatch Oil and Gas, L.L.C. v. Edward A. Reott : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

This Court has jurisdiction by transfer from the Utah Supreme Court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(4).

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED**

Wasatch and BBC state the issues presented for review of the Summary Judgment entered in favor of Reott as follows:

- 1. As a judgment creditor who executed on the Section 32 lease interests and purchased those interests with a credit bid of \$1.00, did Reott thereafter:
  - a. Have standing to challenge Wasatch's exercise of the right to redeem the property?**
  - b. Have the right to raise either fraudulent conveyance or sufficiency of consideration to attack Wasatch's right of redemption?****

Preservation below: The issues of Reott's standing to challenge redemption and his right to raise fraudulent conveyance or sufficiency of consideration were raised below. R. 2640-43, 4073-76, 4086--4106, 4621-25, 4582-97.

- 2. Did Wasatch have an interest in the Section 32 interests sufficient, as a matter of law, to permit exercise of the right of redemption after Reott's execution by reason of the following, either separately or together:
  - a. The acceptance by the Utah School and Institutional Trust Lands Administration ("SITLA") of the lease assignment forms and subsequent issuance of a new lease on Section 32 to Wasatch?****



**b. The Letter Agreement between Wasatch and Mission Energy, L.L.C.**

**(“Mission”) to transfer Section 32 and other parcels to Wasatch?**

**c. Wasatch’s promises and performance under the Letter Agreement and its payment of amounts to preserve the Section 32 interests?**

Preservation below: The bases for Wasatch’s legal and equitable claim to and interests in the leases at issue were raised below. R. 2634-43, 4073-76, 4086-4106, 4621-25, 4582-97.

**3. In granting Reott’s cross-motion for summary judgment and finding a fraudulent transfer, did the trial court commit error by:**

**a. Resolving issues of material fact that were in genuine dispute and in assuming facts in favor of the moving party?**

**b. Drawing an inference of fraud without hearing trial testimony regarding alleged "badges of fraud"?**

Preservation below: Disputes of fact and issues relating to the resolution of material facts in dispute and the drawing of improper inferences were raised below. R. 2497-98, 4076-85, 4851-4914, 4924-59.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

When reviewing summary judgment, the Court reviews whether the trial court erred in applying the governing law and whether the trial court correctly determined that there were no disputed issues of material fact. *Pete v. Youngblood*, 2006 UT App 303, ¶ 8, 556 Utah Adv. Rep. 15 (quoting *Beltran v. Allan*, 926 P.2d 892, 895 (Utah Ct. App. 1996)). All facts are reviewed in the light most favorable to the losing party. *Id.*

## **DETERMINATIVE RULE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE**

### **Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 69(j)(1)<sup>1</sup>:**

*Who may redeem.* Real property sold subject to redemption, or any part sold separately, may be redeemed by the following persons or their successors in interest: (A) the judgment debtor; (B) a creditor having a lien by judgment, mortgage, or other lien on the property sold, or on some share or part thereof, subsequent to that on which the property was sold.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### **I. NATURE OF THE CASE**

On appeal, this is a case to quiet title to mineral lease rights on state-owned land located in Carbon County, Utah, specifically Section 32 in Township 12 South, Range 16 East (hereinafter “Section 32”). Reott is a judgment creditor who executed on the mineral lease rights and thereafter, at a sheriff’s sale, acquired the rights in Section 32 (along with federal lease rights in three other sections) for a credit bid of \$1.00. Wasatch filed a notice of redemption with respect to the lease rights against which Reott had executed his judgment (excepting a gas well and forty acres in Section 32 to a depth of 3,398 feet). The Carbon County Sheriff refused to honor Wasatch’s notice of redemption as to *any* of the lease rights; Wasatch then pursued this action. This appeal focuses solely on the Section 32 lease rights because all disputes regarding the rights to other leases sold by the sheriff have been resolved in favor of Wasatch and its successor-in-interest, BBC.

---

<sup>1</sup> The language quoted is from the rule as it read at the time of the Sheriff’s Sale and notice of redemption in 2001 and 2002. In November 1, 2004, the pertinent part of Rule 69(j)(1) was renumbered as Rule 69C(b) and amended to read as follows:

*Who may redeem.* Real property subject to redemption may be redeemed by the defendant or by a creditor having a lien on the property junior to that on which the property was sold or by their successors in interest.

## II. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

This action commenced on December 24, 2001, when in connection with its notice of redemption Wasatch brought suit to quiet title with respect to certain lease rights on Section 32 (the “Section 32 interests”), as well as rights to federal leases on Sections 27, 33 and 34 of Township 12 South, Range 16 East, Carbon County, Utah (the “BLM leases”). R. 1-148.<sup>2</sup> The pleadings setting forth the claims before the Court on this appeal are as follows: (a) Wasatch’s Amended Complaint (R. 1940-67), (b) Reott’s Answer to Amended Complaint (R. 2176-94), (c) Reott’s Second Amended Counterclaim, Cross Claim and Third Party Claim (R. 2118-65), (d) Wasatch’s Reply and Answer (R. 2275-84), and (e) the Answer of BBC (R.2199-2274).

On April 15, 2004, Wasatch moved for partial summary judgment. R. 2496-2644. On April 30, 2004, Reott responded to the Wasatch motion and filed his own motion for partial summary judgment. R. 2645-3382. Wasatch, Reott and BBC each filed opposing and reply memoranda. R. 3661-3944, 3948-4066, 4073-4204-4251, 4269-5512. Briefing concluded on September 14, 2004. The cross-motions were argued before Judge Bryce K. Bryner on January 24, and March 18, 2005. R. 5397.

The motions addressed the state of title with respect to the Section 32 interests as

---

<sup>2</sup> The record in this action consists of over 5500 pages. This explanation of the Course of Proceedings attempts to impose simplicity on the voluminous record by citing only to the pleadings that govern issues before the Court on appeal and those items in the record that bear on the trial court’s Ruling and subsequent Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment and Statement of Undisputed Facts. The Ruling, the Order and the Statement are each included in the Addendum at, respectively, Tabs A, B and C. All pages in the tabs of the Addendum are specially numbered for ease of reference – *e.g.*, A-3, B-5 or C-15 – and will be so cited in this Brief, after initial citation to the Record.

well as the BLM leases. With respect to each of these leases, Mission was formerly the lessee. The BLM leases covered property owned by the federal government. Section 32 is owned by the State of Utah and was subject to mineral leases administered by SITLA.

On December 16, 2005, two weeks before he retired from the bench (and nine months after oral argument), Judge Bryner issued his Ruling on the cross-motions of Wasatch and Reott for partial summary judgment on redemption, quiet title, and fraudulent conveyance issues. Tab A. An Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment and the Statement of Material Undisputed Facts, both prepared by Reott to implement Judge Bryner's Ruling, were entered on May 24, 2006, by Judge George M. Harmond, Jr. Tabs B and C.

The trial court found that there was no genuine issue as to any fact material to resolution of the quiet title and redemption claims, both with respect to the Section 32 interests as well as the BLM leases. The trial court held that Wasatch was in the chain of title with respect to the BLM leases and, thus, could exercise the right of redemption. B-3. The trial court directed the entry of final judgment on this issue pursuant to Utah R. Civ. P. 54(b) and Reott did not take an appeal from this aspect of the Summary Judgment. B-4, -5. Wasatch subsequently tendered the requisite \$1.06 to Reott, a Certificate of Redemption issued and the BLM lease rights were transferred. R. 5435-49.

The trial court's conclusion with respect to the Section 32 interests is the subject of this appeal. The trial court held that Wasatch was not in the chain of legal title with respect to any portion of Section 32 and that, by reason of Mission's fraudulent conveyance of its Section 32 lease rights (as determined by the trial court on motion for

summary judgment), Wasatch did not have a claim to the Section 32 interests, legal or equitable, sufficient to permit exercise of the right of redemption. The trial court directed that title to all Section 32 lease rights be quieted in Reott. B-3, -4. As with the summary judgment on the BLM leases, the trial court directed the entry of final judgment on the Section 32 quiet title and redemption issues pursuant to Utah R. Civ. P. 54(b). B-4.

Wasatch filed its Notice of Appeal on June 12, 2006. R. 5428-30. BBC also filed a Notice of Appeal on June 14, 2006. R. 5431-34. The appeals have been consolidated by order of the Court dated July 21, 2006. R. 5511-12.<sup>3</sup>

### **III. STATEMENT OF FACTS<sup>4</sup>**

The review of cross-motions for summary judgment addresses both material facts not in dispute and those in dispute. Notwithstanding the voluminous record and lengthy findings, what really matters in this appeal are a few simple facts. The discussion below is in two parts: A) facts material to the legal analysis that are not in dispute, and B) facts

---

<sup>3</sup> It is significant to note that Reott has filed *lis pendens* clouding BBC's title on numerous leases outside the scope of the Sheriff's Sale (and in some cases outside the boundaries of Carbon County). These filings were made in 2002 on the apparent premise that some day Reott would obtain a favorable ruling on his claim of fraud that would permit execution of his deficiency judgment against additional properties transferred by Mission to Wasatch and now owned by BBC. BBC seeks an order removing the cloud on title and precluding Reott from future filings against any of the oil and gas assets that were the subject of the transactions in dispute in this case absent a trial and specific finding of liability.

<sup>4</sup> The trial court, through Judge Harmond, signed a "Statement of Material Undisputed Facts," consisting of 128 separate paragraphs and running 30 pages. See Tab C. The Statement signed was prepared by counsel for Reott based on the two and one-half pages of Judge Bryner's Ruling devoted to analysis of the Section 32 lease interests. A-4 to -6 Wasatch and BBC filed timely objections to specific items set forth in Reott's proposed Statement as ultimately executed by Judge Harmond. R. 4851-4914.

deemed material by the trial court to the issue of fraudulent conveyance and the related inferences drawn by Judge Bryner in considering those facts (notwithstanding clear and substantial disputes in the record).

**A. Material Facts Not In Dispute**

**1. Mission Energy LLC**

The rights at issue in this appeal trace back to Mission, a Colorado company engaged in oil and gas development in Carbon County, Utah. C-6. From 1997 to 2000, Justin C. Sutton (“Sutton”) acted as Mission’s manager with authority to sign legal documents on behalf of Mission. R. 2522-26.

In 1997, Mission acquired leases **ML 43541** and **ML 43798**, which together covered Section 32, from White River Enterprises (“White River”). R. 2530 (attached as Tab D), 2531-36, C-6. On forty acres of the portion of Section 32 covered by **ML 43541**, Mission drilled a well called the Lavinia 1-32 Well. C-7.

Section 32 is owned by the State of Utah. C-6. Pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 53C-1-201(1)(b), SITLA manages Section 32 and, on behalf of the State of Utah, was the lessor on **ML 43541** and **ML 43798**. *Id.*

The transfer of Section 32 lease rights to Mission was accomplished by filling out a standard SITLA form as required by SITLA. D-1. In executing the form for **ML 43541**, the sole signatory as Assignor was Kevin Williams; White River did not execute the form as the party assigning the leases. *Id.* Notwithstanding this apparent defect, SITLA approved the assignment and Mission assumed the rights and obligations of lessee under **ML 43541**.

## **2. Reott' Judgment**

Reott's dealings with Mission date back to 1997. In that year, Reott loaned \$160,000 to Mission. C-7. Sutton also signed a subscription agreement on behalf of Mission in his capacity as manager of Mission as evidence of a further investment by Reott. R. 2523-24. (The subscription agreement is mentioned solely because it did not contain signatures of any other Mission managers and there is no evidence that other Mission managers approved the transaction — a fact of potential consequence to the fraud claim.)

When Mission did not repay its debt obligation, Reott filed suit. C-7, -8. That case was ultimately heard and resolved in Colorado, with judgment entered on December 20, 1999. *Id.* The Reott Colorado judgment was in the amount of \$204,000. *Id.* Reott did not record his judgment in Carbon County until October 27, 2000. C-16.

## **3. Oil and Gas Liens on Section 32**

As of June 21, 2000 (when Mission agreed to transfer the Section 32 interests to Wasatch [*see* part 4 below]), both Key Energy Services, Inc. ("Key Energy") and J-West Oilfield Services, Inc. ("J-West") had recorded liens against Mission's interest in Section 32 in the amount of \$21,952 and \$52,862, respectively. R. 2550-54, C-8. Moreover, the district court had already entered a judgment of foreclosure in favor of J-West. C-9. A judgment of foreclosure was entered on the Key Energy lien on December 13, 2000. C-17. Reott later acquired both the J-West judgment (January 19, 2001) and the Key Energy judgment (April 27, 2001). *Id.* After credit for amounts paid on these judgments, there remained a total principal balance due of \$34,595. R. 345. Thus, by April 27,

2001, Reott held judgments in a combined unpaid amount of \$238,595.

#### **4. Wasatch's Acquisition of Section 32 Mineral Leases**

The transaction at the center of this appeal unfolded in the following manner:

##### **a. The Letter Agreement**

On June 21, 2000, before Reott's first appearance in Utah, Mission and Wasatch executed a letter agreement ("Letter Agreement"). C-9. This was the third of three transactions between Mission and Wasatch by which Mission transferred mineral lease rights to Wasatch. R. 2509-19. One of the previous transactions had included the BLM leases. C-8, -9.

The Letter Agreement provided for the transfer to Wasatch of ten mineral leases: eight other leases with the BLM and the two SITLA leases in Section 32 at issue here — **ML 43541** and **ML 43798**. R. 2555-57 (attached as Tab E), 5403-04. However, with respect to **ML 43541**, the Letter Agreement reserved to Mission the lease rights on forty acres of Section 32 consisting of the spacing unit on which the Lavinia 1-32 Well was located (NW $\frac{1}{4}$ SE  $\frac{1}{4}$ ), from the surface to a depth of 3,398 feet in that forty acres. C-10; E-3. The remaining Section 32 lease rights subject to the Letter Agreement are what have been referred to as the "Section 32 interests," defined above in Section II.

As consideration for the transfer, the Letter Agreement provided (C-10; E-1, -2):

- a) Wasatch would reimburse Mission for rentals on certain leases in a total amount of \$3,629.40.
- b) Wasatch would take upon itself all of Mission's future financial obligations to the lessor, whether SITLA or the BLM, with respect to the leases.
- c) Mission would have a right of first refusal with respect to participation in any



“‘trade’ relating to a drilling deal that Wasatch may be successful in putting together on the Leases. . . .”

- d) Wasatch would front any costs “incurred . . . to get the Leases in good standing,” but with the exception of three federal leases (Burris/Horse Bench), Mission was obligated ultimately to reimburse Wasatch for these costs.

**b. Documentation of the Transfer**

As provided in the Letter Agreement, on June 23, 2000, Sutton executed three mineral lease assignments on standard SITLA forms to transfer the lessee’s interest in Section 32 (**ML 43541** and **ML 43798**) to Wasatch (excepting the Lavinia 1-32 Well as noted above). R. 73-74, 2558-65 (attached as Tab F), C-10, -11. While it was Sutton’s intention, as manager of Mission, to transfer *Mission’s* interest (R. 2566-68), the SITLA form for each transfer bears only the signature of “Justin C. Sutton” as “Lessee – Assignor.”<sup>5</sup> Wasatch signed the forms indicating its acceptance of the transfer of lease rights from Mission and obligating itself to pay future rental amounts and to undertake improvements necessary to maintain these lease rights. *Id.* SITLA approved both the June 23, 2000 transfers to Wasatch, with that approval duly noted on July 5, 2000, by a stamp of “Assignment Approved” affixed to the lease assignment forms. Tab F. On September 15, 2000, SITLA and Wasatch executed a new lease – **ML 43541A** – with respect to 520 acres of Section 32. R. 2569-80 (attached as Tab G).

Wasatch did not record the lease assignment forms for **ML 43451** and **ML 43798** or the new lease **ML 43451A** with the Carbon County Recorder. C-12. However, each

---

<sup>5</sup> In this regard, the forms mirror that signed by Kevin Williams two years earlier to transfer some of the same rights, then owned by White River, to Mission. Tab D.

lease assignment form and the new lease were found in the records at the offices of SITLA and available there for public inspection. R. 2558-65, 2569-80.

### **c. Performance under the Letter Agreement**

Wasatch paid the \$3,629.40 required in the Letter Agreement. R. 4035-38 (affidavit attached as Tab H without exhibits). Thereafter, Wasatch paid an additional \$4,590 in rentals and royalties relating to the mineral leases covered by the Letter Agreement, and otherwise managed the properties from the date of that agreement until Wasatch transferred the mineral leases to BBC.<sup>6</sup> *Id.* Ultimately, Wasatch was not successful in “putting together” a “trade relating to a drilling deal” as referenced in the Letter Agreement. C-14. On May 17, 2002, Wasatch sold the Section 32 interests, along with numerous other oil and gas interests, to BBC. C-22.

### **5. Reott’s Execution on his Judgments**

Nearly a year after the date of the Letter Agreement, on May 16, 2001, Reott commenced proceedings to enforce his three judgments against the BLM leases and Section 32. C-17. As of that date, the following were true with respect to Section 32:

- a. Wasatch was lessee on the records of SITLA with respect to mineral leases **ML 43541A** and **ML 43798**, and the deep rights (below a depth of 3,398 feet) of **ML 43541** in Section 32. Tabs F and G.
- b. Mission was lessee of record [**ML 43541**] with respect to the Lavinia 1-32 Well and the depth above 3,398 feet in NW¼SE¼ of Section 32 but claimed no interest in the rest of Section 32. C-10.
- c. Reott owned three judgments based on the J-West and Key Energy Liens

---

<sup>6</sup> As part of a corporate reorganization undertaken for tax purposes, Wasatch Oil & Gas, Corp. transferred the Section 32 lease rights to Wasatch Oil & Gas, LLC — both related entities and legal predecessor/successor. R. 2627, C-16.

and a judgment lien against Mission property in Carbon County. C-16, -17.

On August 9, 2001, Carbon County Deputy Sheriff W. R. Craig conducted a sheriff's sale with respect to the BLM leases and Section 32 to satisfy the three judgments owned by Reott (the "Sheriff's Sale"). R. 2604-08; C-18. At the Sheriff's Sale, Reott made a credit bid of \$1.00 to acquire the BLM leases on Sections 27, 33 and 34 together with all SITLA mineral lease interests on Section 32, including the Section 32 interests. C-18. The Sheriff's office thereafter issued a Sheriff's Certificate of Sale (R. 2609) that recited the sale to Reott for the sum of \$1.00, as the "highest bid made," the following property:

Township 12 South Range 16 East; Sections 27, 32, 33 and 34 in Carbon County Utah together with oil and gas lease (Utah State Mineral Lease No. ML-43541), the oil and gas well located thereon referred to as Lavina State L# 1-32 [sic], and all productions, improvements, equipments and pipelines on or appurtenant to the well.

#### **6. Wasatch's Attempts to Redeem the Mineral Leases**

On December 24, 2001, Wasatch filed with the clerk of the Seventh District Court a timely Notice of Exercise of Right of Redemption (the "Redemption Notice") seeking, for the sum of \$1.06 (enclosed with the notice), to redeem the BLM leases and the Section 32 leases, but specifically excluding the Lavinia 1-32 Well and related spacing unit and depth (which were not a part of the Letter Agreement). C-18, -19. Deputy Craig sent a letter to Wasatch dated January 10, 2002, returning the notice stating that he was unable to find Reott, Mission, Key Energy or J-West in Carbon County (without further explanation). R. 2613; C-20. On January 18, 2002, Wasatch sent a second Notice of

Redemption to the Carbon County Sheriff essentially mirroring the first notice.<sup>7</sup> C-20.

The sheriff took no action on this second notice and made no response.

## **7. The Sheriff's Deed**

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