2006

# Wasatch Oil and Gas, L. L. C. v. Edward A. Reott, key Enery Services, Inc., J-west Oilfield Service, Inc., Mission Energy, LLC : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS**

In its Statement of Undisputed Facts, the District Court numerically identified 128 undisputed facts. The reality is that Wasatch did not dispute these 128 facts. These facts were entered by the District Court after reviewing Wasatch and BBC’s pleadings. In their Summary Judgment Memorandum, Wasatch and BBC objected to nineteen of Reott’s ninety-nine facts and stated that sixty-four specific facts were not disputed and offered undisputed facts of their own. In objecting, neither Wasatch nor BBC followed Rule 7(c), Utah R. Civ. P. After failing to dispute sufficient material facts to preclude a summary judgment, Wasatch and BBC now belatedly assert that there are material facts in dispute preventing summary judgment. The District Court was careful to specifically reference each fact to the record and to demonstrate that neither Wasatch nor BBC disputed the fact or that the dispute was not material. (See Appellees’ Addendum, Tab B.) The District Court was correct in entering the Statement of Undisputed Facts.

Neither Wasatch nor BBC provided legal argument in the District Court that the undisputed facts do not apply to the statutory factors that define intent for a fraudulent transfer. Wasatch did not dispute that the undisputed facts supported nine badges of fraud (factors) under Utah Code Ann. § 25-6-5 (1998 & Supp. 2006). The District Court was correct in reviewing the undisputed facts and applying them to the factors for actual intent for a fraudulent transfer and concluding a fraudulent transfer occurred.

In apparent recognition of their inability to defend against the merits of the District Court's ruling, Wasatch and BBC assert that Reott lacks standing to assert his defense of their claims. Specifically, Wasatch now asserts that (i) Reott has no standing because he suffered no injury; and (ii) under this Court's holding in *Brockbank*, Reott, as a foreclosing creditor, cannot rely on a fraud theme to defeat redemption. Neither Wasatch nor BBC argued below that Reott has no standing because he suffered no injury. Wasatch and BBC have misapplied *Brockbank* because it deals with execution against the personal right of redemption, something Reott did not do. As the purchaser at the Sheriff's Sale and recipient of the Sheriff's Deed, Reott has an inherent right to protect his interests against a party with no legal right to redeem.

Wasatch claims in its Introduction "[t]he trial court correctly held that, absent a sufficient defense, the lease assignment forms in tandem with the Letter Agreement gave Wasatch an equitable interest in Section 32 interests sufficient to support a right of redemption." (Appellant's Br. 21.) This is a false statement. The District Court did not so rule. (*See* Ruling at 7, Tab B.) The District Court ruled Wasatch does not have legal or equitable title. *Id.*



Wasatch states that the undisputed evidence establishes Mission's intent to transfer to Wasatch an interest in Section 32. (Appellants' Br. 30-31.) Wasatch's statement is not cited to the record and is false. First, Mission did not sign the Section 32 Assignments so Wasatch does not have legal title. Second, Wasatch has no ability to prove Mission's intent because: (i) it has no testimony from Mission; (ii) it cannot introduce parol evidence to indicate Mission's intent to construe a conveyance executed solely by Sutton; and (iii) Mission's Operating Agreement requires three managers to approve and two managers to sign a conveyance, which did not occur. Mission's intent to transfer the Section 32 Leases was not and cannot be proven. Further, a fraudulent transfer occurred. Therefore, since Wasatch has not shown legal or equitable title, it is not a successor-in-interest and cannot redeem.

SITLA does not have authority to make final judicial decisions on legal title to property. That is reserved for the courts. While SITLA does approve lease assignments, its approval governs only the relationship between SITLA and its "apparent" lessees. SITLA's approval does not determine the legal contest between Reott, as the purchaser of the lease rights at the Sheriff's Sale, and Wasatch who, without legal title, claims to be the legal lessee.

The District Court determined a fraudulent transfer occurred in the attempt to transfer the property from Mission to WOGC. In its ruling it did not do a detailed discussion. It did not need to do so. Wasatch and BBC contested few of the facts surrounding the attempt to transfer property from Mission to WOGC. Such a transfer would keep the property away from Mission's creditors, such as Reott. In the District

Court, Reott specifically provided facts to support and legal argument showing eleven badges of fraud to support his claim of fraudulent transfer from Mission to WOGC. Wasatch and BBC only argued against two of the eleven badges of fraud supporting a fraudulent transfer. They failed to contest facts and Reott's legal arguments that the undisputed facts supporting nine uncontested badges of fraud constitute a fraudulent transfer. One badge of fraud is sufficient to find fraudulent transfer. The District Court was correct in ruling a fraudulent transfer from Mission to WOGC occurred, and Quieting Title in Reott.

### **ARGUMENT**

**POINT I.     THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THERE WERE NO GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT THAT PRECLUDED SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF REOTT.**

Pursuant to Rule 56(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, summary judgment is appropriate when “there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and . . . the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Summary judgment is not precluded simply when some fact remains in dispute, but only when a material fact is genuinely controverted. *Heglar Ranch, Inc. v. Stillman*, 619 P.2d 1390, 1391 (Utah 1978). When a moving party “challenges an element of the nonmoving party’s case on the basis that no genuine issue of material fact exists, the burden then shifts to the nonmoving party to present evidence that is sufficient to establish a genuine issue of material fact.” *Waddoups v. Amalgamated Sugar Co.*, 2002 UT 69, ¶ 35, 54 P.3d 1054, 1064. The nonmoving party must present “evidence that could be interpreted to satisfy the elements of the claim.” *Id.* at 1064. This evidence must be “more than just conclusory assertions

that an issue of material fact exists to establish a genuine issue.” *Id.* at 1063. Further, genuine issues of material fact must be established, as required by Rules 7 and 56, Utah R. Civ. P.

**A. Wasatch and BBC Did Not Dispute the Material Facts.**

The District Court entered its Statement of Undisputed Facts, identifying 128 specific facts that were not disputed.<sup>3</sup> (R. 5395-5427.) While Wasatch and BBC make myriad arguments contending that genuine issues of material fact exist regarding Reott’s fraudulent transfer claim, they do not challenge the specific facts contained in the Statement of Undisputed Facts. They do not identify that any one of the 128 facts is in dispute. The reason that Wasatch does not challenge the Statement of Undisputed Facts on appeal is simple—Wasatch and BBC did not dispute them below.<sup>4</sup> (*See* Wasatch’s Opposition and Reply, R. 4076-4085; BBC’s Opposition, R. 3665-3668.) The Statement of Undisputed Facts stand unchallenged on this appeal, and this Court should affirm the District Court’s determination that the material facts are not in dispute.

---

<sup>3</sup> Those facts were taken, for the most part, verbatim from the parties’ Statement of Undisputed Facts as proposed in the summary judgment briefs. In support of its Motion for Summary Judgment, Reott identified ninety-nine facts as undisputed. Wasatch listed by number ten facts it identified as disputed: 1, 30, 30B, 30C, 44, 55, 56, 72, 73 and 82. (R. 4080-84.) As to the remaining facts, Wasatch stated there was “not a material dispute.” (R. 4080-85.) BBC joined in that statement. (BBC Opposition at 5, R. 3665.) In addition, BBC identified nine facts that it disputed: 49, 83, 84, 85, 87, 90, 93, 96 and 97. (R. 3665-68.) Only one (number 49) relates to the issues on this appeal. As to facts they attempted to dispute, they did not meet their burden, as the nonmoving party under Rules 7 and 56, Utah R. Civ. P., to repeat verbatim the fact in dispute, explain the dispute, and provide evidence to prove that a genuine issue of material fact existed.

<sup>4</sup> The Statement of Undisputed Facts is comprised of the undisputed facts from Wasatch, BBC and Reott’s briefs.

On appeal, and in Wasatch's Statement of Facts, Wasatch states that "besides the badges of fraud," it disputed "many other facts alleged by Reott and adopted by the trial court." Wasatch improperly provides a record cite to R. 4851-4914, 4924-59. This record cite is to Wasatch's *post-judgment* Objections to Reott's proposed Statement of Undisputed Facts requested by the District Court. Challenging Reott's proposed facts for the first time after the District Court's ruling does not show that Wasatch and BBC met their burden to establish a genuine issue of material fact before the Court ruled.

**B. The District Court Did Not "Find" Any Fact And Did Not Make Any Impermissible "Findings" Regarding The Nine Badges Of Fraud Or The "Materiality" Of Any Specific Fact.**

Although the material facts were not disputed below, Wasatch and BBC attempt to create a "genuine issue of material fact" on appeal. Wasatch and BBC make several new arguments asserting that the District Court made impermissible findings of fact, including "finding" the nine badges of fraud, inferring fraudulent intent, and finding that certain facts were material to the fraudulent transfer claim. (Appellants' Br. 14.) Each of these arguments fail for three reasons.

First, these arguments are raised for the first time on appeal and were not presented, in any manner, for consideration to the District Court. (*See generally* Wasatch's Opposition and Reply, R. 4073; BBC Opposition, R. 3661.) As this Court has repeatedly confirmed, it does not address arguments for the first time on appeal. *Walter v. Stewart*, 2003 UT App 86, ¶ 33, 67 P.3d 1042, 1049. Wasatch has not established there is any reason for this Court to raise issues that could have been raised below.

*Coleman ex rel. Schefski v. Stevens*, 2000 UT 98, ¶ 9, 17 P.3d 1122, 1123. As such, this Court should not consider them.

Second, the District Court did not make “findings.” A determination that undisputed facts may or may not satisfy a statutory or common law “badge of fraud” is nothing more than the application of fact to law for the purpose of determining a fraudulent transfer. It is not an impermissible “finding of fact,” and Wasatch and BBC cite no authority in support of this new argument.

The Fraudulent Transfer Act (“Act”)<sup>5</sup> provides that a transfer is fraudulent if it is made with the “actual intent to defraud, hinder or delay” a creditor. Utah Code Ann. § 25-6-5 (1998 & Supp. 2006). Because “actual intent” is difficult to prove absent an outright admission, the Act provides that “actual intent” can be proven through “badges of fraud,” which are comprised of “facts that throw suspicion on a transaction.” *Territorial Sav. & Loan Ass’n v. Baird*, 781 P.2d 452, 462 (Utah Ct. App. 1989) (citation omitted). The Act provides a non-exclusive list of factors historically considered in common law as “badges of fraud,” including whether:

- (c) the transfer or obligation was disclosed or concealed;
- (d) before the transfer was made or obligation was incurred, the debtor had been sued or threatened with suit . . . ;
- (e) the transfer was of substantially all of the debtor’s assets;

---

<sup>5</sup> Utah’s Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act provides alternative bases to prove that a transfer was fraudulent. A transfer is fraudulent under § 25-6-6 of the Act if it is made for less than reasonably equivalent value while the debtor is insolvent. *See id.*, § 25-6-6 (1998). A transfer also is fraudulent under § 25-6-5 of the Act if it is made with the “actual intent to defraud, hinder or delay.” Utah Code Ann. § 25-6-5 (1998). Reott argued both below. In this case, the undisputed facts support both.

- (f) the debtor absconded . . . ;
- (h) the value of the consideration received . . .
- (i) the debtor was insolvent or became insolvent shortly after the transfer was made . . .

Utah Code Ann. § 25-6-5(2) (1998). Other badges of fraud include failure to record the conveyance, secrecy or haste in the transfer, and conveyance not made in the ordinary course of business. *See United States v. Christensen*, 751 F. Supp. 1532, 1536 (D. Utah 1990), *appeal dismissed*, 961 F.2d 221 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1992); *see also Dahnken, Inc. of Salt Lake City v. Wilmarth*, 726 P.2d 420 (Utah 1986).

Determining whether undisputed facts support one or more badges of fraud is nothing more than applying the undisputed facts to the elements of a claim. In concluding that the undisputed facts establish the elements of a fraudulent transfer, a court is not “finding” actual intent or “drawing inferences of fraud.” Rather, the Act provides that if certain codified and common law factors are established, “actual intent” may be proven and the statutory elements of fraudulent transfer are established.

Third, the District Court did not enter “findings” regarding the materiality of any fact. In fact, the “materiality” of any specific fact and its application to fraudulent transfer was not at issue below, because Wasatch and BBC did not properly make it one. In his summary judgment brief, Reott identified the undisputed facts, discussed Utah’s fraudulent transfer law, and analyzed how the facts established eleven badges of fraud. Wasatch and BBC did not oppose the fraudulent transfer claim and did not challenge Reott’s analysis of the badges of fraud. Wasatch and BBC did not argue that any specific fact was or was not material to the existence of any specific badge of fraud or to the

fraudulent transfer claim. (R. 3665-68, 4076-85.) As such, this Court should decline to consider for the first time on appeal Wasatch and BBC's arguments that certain facts are not material to establishing a badge of fraud or to proving Reott's fraudulent transfer claim. *Monson v. Carver*, 928 P.2d at 1022.<sup>6</sup>

**POINT II. THE DISTRICT COURT SHOULD BE AFFIRMED IN RULING THAT REOTT HAS STANDING TO CHALLENGE WASATCH'S CLAIM TO BE MISSION'S SUCCESSOR-IN-INTEREST, UNDER RULE 69 UTAH R CIV. P., AND ENTITLED TO REDEEM THE SECTION 32 LEASES.**

Wasatch asks this Court to rule that, even if Wasatch obtained the Section 32 Leases by fraudulent transfer, its right to redeem is absolute. As such, Wasatch's focus has been on challenging Reott's ability to dispute Wasatch's redemption. However, all of Wasatch's arguments fail.

**A. Reott Has A Personal Stake Sufficient For Standing.**

Wasatch and BBC argued below that Reott lacked "standing" to challenge Wasatch's redemption based on *Brockbank v. Brockbank*, 2001 UT App. 251, 32 P.3d 990, and based on the argument that he is no longer a "judgment creditor." (R. 2636-40.) On appeal, Wasatch and BBC now assert that Reott lacks standing "because he suffered no injury by reason of Wasatch's redemption of the Section 32 Lease interests."

---

<sup>6</sup> Wasatch cites *Burnham v. Bankers Life & Cas. Co.*, 470 P.2d 261, 263 (Utah 1970) for the proposition that the "materiality" of a fact is a finding of fact, requiring a trial. *Burnham* does not apply. In *Burnham*, the court was faced with the specific issue of "whether or not a misstatement in an [insurance] application *is material to the risk*." The court essentially stated that the importance of the false information provided or the true information withheld, was a question of fact for the jury. *Id.* at 263. *Burnham* is not a fraudulent transfer case, has nothing to do with the materiality of any fact to a badge of fraud, and has nothing to do with applying facts to law. *Burnham* is inapplicable.

(Appellants' Br. 24.) This Court need not consider this new argument on appeal. *State v. Nelson*, 725 P.3d 1353, 1356 (Utah 1986).

Nevertheless, this argument is without merit. Reott agrees that to have standing, he must have "some distinct and palpable injury that gives rise to a personal stake in the outcome of the dispute." *Washington County Water Conservancy Dist. v. Morgan*, 2003 UT 58, ¶ 17, 82 P.3d 1125, 1131. Reott has a personal stake in the outcome of this dispute. As a Sheriff's Sale purchaser, he has a property interest in Section 32, and will suffer a "distinct and palpable injury" if title is quieted in Wasatch, a party not entitled to redeem.

**B. The District Court Correctly Determined That Reott, As The Purchaser At The Sheriff's Sale, Has Standing To Challenge Wasatch's Right To Redeem.**

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